No. 74354-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTS, et al

v.

JOHN DOE G, et al

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS DONNA AND JEFF ZINK

DONNA ZINK Pro Se Appellant P.O. Box 263 Mesa, WA 99343 (509) 265-4417 dzink@centurytel.net

I. INTRODUCTION

The legal questions and issues in this appeal concern access to public records, sealing of court records without application of GR 15 and Ishikawa, preliminary injunction under the general rules of RCW 7.40.020 versus the more specific language in RCW 42.56.540 and class action certification under the Public Records Act (PRA)(RCW 42.56.540).

These issues are of great public importance as they have a huge impact on the public's access to public records. Agencies across the State of Washington are circumventing the mandatory requirements of the PRA to prevent the release of public records while avoiding litigation costs and penalties using third party notification provisions in RCW 42.56.540 without claim of exemption. This issue needs to be determined by a Court of Appeals so that future requesters, third parties named in the records as well as public agencies responsible for access to public records can benefit from the Court's interpretation of the interplay between the various subsections of the PRA demanding prompt response, identification and claim of exemption(s), mandatory release of public records, mandatory daily penalties and the role of third party notification without a claimed exception.

1. Use of Pseudonym

This case involves the informal motion practice chosen by the Superior Court in King County to seal court records through use of

pseudonym without following General Rule (GR) 15, application of the *Ishikawa Factors* or allowing for public participation. The chosen practice of the court to make determination to seal court records without oral argument in an open court amounts to ex parte action which is not permitted by our Constitution, court rule or statute and has been determined to be inadequate by our Supreme Court.

The King County Superior Court's order allows Plaintiffs' attorneys representing those convicted of sex offenses in a civil action to obtain orders to secret their identity through secret proceeding where the public is entirely excluded and the court fails to make individualized findings required for an order to allow the sealing of court records.

2. Class Action Certification

This case concerns the legal question of whether a trial court has the discretion to appoint a handful of representatives to certify a class of individuals to prevent the release of public records under the mandatory requirements of RCW 42.56.540. If a public record is exempt from access by the public the exemption covers all similar classes of records. No class action is necessary since the exemption covers all of the records under that particular exemption. Here the agency refuses to claim and exemption applies yet they also refuse to release the requested records. Instead the agency chose to notify third parties to initiate litigation to prevent release of the requested records without claim of exemption. This is error and a

violation of the strict mandates of the PRA that an agency must have claim of exemption or provide access to the requested records (RCW 42.56.050 Intent (2)).

Because the agency refused to claim an exemption, the trial court certified a class of person to enjoin all of the requested records despite the fact that the language of RCW 42.56.540 clearly mandates that only a specifically identified public record may be enjoined only upon the motion and affidavit of a person who is specifically named in that specifically identified record or to whom that specifically identified record specifically pertains. Despite the language found in RCW 42.56.540, the trial court determined that a handful of unknown Level I sex offenders could enjoin the release of an entire class of public records they are not named in and that do not specifically pertain to the parties filing this action. This is error. If the records are exempt, the agency must claim the exemption. If the records are not exempt, under the strong language of the PRA, the agency must claim the exemption in denying release of the public records.

While a trial court can order the release of exempt records in certain cases (RCW 42.56.210(2)) where the agency determines release of exempt records would not harm any individual right to privacy or agency function, the trial court cannot enjoin records that are, in fact, not exempt and the agency claims no exemption, through class action certification to enjoin all requested records. The court is limited by the PRA to only enjoin public records wherein an exemption is claimed by the agency and

only for those person specifically identified in the requested records or to whom the records specifically pertain if the trial court determines the release would violate that particular person's right to privacy.

3. Preliminary Injunction/Temporary Restraining Order

This appeal concerns the legal question of whether a preliminary injunction can be ordered by a trial court pursuant to RCW 7.40.020 regardless of the strong language of the PRA Chapter 42.56 RCW, specifically RCW 42.56.540,¹ clearly identifying that public records can only be enjoined from release by a trial court if the merits of the case are determined at the time the records are enjoined. The exact opposite of RCW 7.40.020 which mandates that the merits of the case must not be decided when issuing a temporary injunction.

This issue is of great public importance. Through use of RCW 7.40.020 to temporarily enjoin public records, agencies can unreasonably withhold public records for extended periods of time without consequence. Our legislature specifically enacted RCW 42.56.540, 42.56.520 and 42.56.210(2) to deal with third party notification and the enjoining of public records. Our Supreme Court has repeatedly mandated that if two separate statutes address the same legal issues, the more specific statute applies over

¹ See also RCW 42.56.030 stating the PRA controls in all questions of law.

the general statute. In this cause of action the more specific statutes is RCW 42.56.540, while the general statute for injunction is RCW 7.40.020. None the less, trial courts across the State of Washington, as this case demonstrates, are ignoring the language of RCW 42.56.540 and temporarily enjoining public records pursuant to RCW 7.40.020 claiming permanent injunction cannot issue because the motion was for temporary injunction. This is error of law and causes long delays in release of public records; the opposite of the strong mandate of the PRA that records be made promptly available. This issue is a paramount importance to the public and must be address by our Courts of Appeal.

Litigation is expensive, time consuming and our upper Courts have already determined requesters cannot recover expenses from a third party litigants. This mandate by our upper courts has inspired agencies across the State of Washington to contact third parties to prevent release of public records without a claim of exemption; allowing agencies to violate the PRA without consequence while causing economic loss or withdrawal of a request to avoid litigation costs.

Agencies should not be allowed to intimidate requesters into withdrawing a request simply because they would face expensive and time consuming litigation in or to maintain the right to access public records. While in this instant case, no action has as yet ensued against the DOC requesting per day penalties for unreasonable delay, the fact that the

requested records have been unreasonably delayed by the DOC by third party notification is an important factor. It is disingenuous and unreasonable for a public agency to initiate third party action to prevent release of public records the agency claims to be nonexempt and then argue the records are not exempt and must be released.

Numerous times Zink has attempted to have one of our Courts of Appeal to look at the decisions being made in the trial courts concerning temporary injunction under RCW 7.40.020 rather than injunction of public records pursuant to the specific requirements of RCW 42.56.540. All of the Appellate Courts thus far have refused to review the issue; claiming the determination of whether RCW 7.40.020 or RCW 42.56.540 controls the injunction of public records was not ripe for discretionary review and Zink could not appeal as a matter of right until a permanent injunction was issued. Further, once the permanent injunction is issued, they claim the issue of preliminary injunction is moot. This issue needs to be addressed by our Courts of Appeal. The legislative mandate is clear and unambiguous. Injunction of the "public's" records falls under the strongly worded mandates of the PRA; specifically, RCW 42.56.540.

4. Permanent Injunction

This appeal concerns whether Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA) evaluations are sentencing documents associated with the sentencing of those convicted of a sex offense and who qualify

under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 for said sentencing alternative, specifically RCW 9.94A.670 or whether the requested SSOSA evaluation are medical and mental health records which are exempt from release to the public.

It should be noted that the trial court only enjoined the release of the SSOSA evaluation of Level I sex offenders. None of the Level II, III or non Leveled sex offenders SSOSA evaluation were enjoined. This is obvious error of law. If the records are medical and/or mental health records rather than sentencing documents, the designated level of the offender should not matter. If the SSOSA evaluations are exempt for Level I offenders as medical and/or mental health records, they are exempt for all sex offenders as medical and/or mental health records. The fact that the trial court only enjoined the SSOSA evaluation of the Level I sex offenders clearly indicates that the court does not believe the records to be exempt.

Further, sex offenses are crimes against the people of the State of Washington; not a medical or mental health issues. None of the Respondents claim they were seeking medical or mental health treatment at the time the SSOSA evaluation was administered. None of the Respondents claim they went to a hospital or doctor seeking treatment. Rather all Respondents claim they requested an SSOSA evaluation in order to obtain a favorable sentence of little or no jail time for a sex crime they willingly committed using the alternative sentencing option of

therapy instead of prison. The actual treatment or therapy does not begin until after the convicted sex offender is sentence by a judge to either prison or treatment. Therefore, an SSOSA evaluation cannot be considered a part of the court ordered treatment as the treatment was not ordered at the time of the evaluation. Rather the evaluation is used by a judge to determine whether to court order treatment of the offender.

The SSOSA evaluation is used by a trial court judge, not a medical professional, to determine whether the criminal is amendable to treatment and can be returned to the community or not amendable and must be sent to prison. The actual treatment or therapy of any particular convicted sex offender does not start until after the convicted sex offender is sentence to either prison or treatment. Therefore, an SSOSA evaluation cannot be considered court ordered treatment because the court has not ordered treatment until after review of the SSOSA evaluation in an open court.

Access to these records is of great public concern. Without access to the SSOSA evaluations, the public cannot monitor our penal and judicial system in the sentencing of sex offenders. Without access to these records the public has no way of knowing whether our penal and judicial system are working for the people, whether the SSOSA program is working for the sex offender or whether the SSOSA program even works.

Finally, our Supreme Court has mandated that the SSOSA evaluations are sentencing documents as they are used to sentence a convicted sex offender into treatment rather than prison and are open for

public inspection in the court records as well as in the prosecutor's office. Respondents claim, and the trial court agreed, that our Supreme Court did not address the issue of exemption of SSOSA evaluations under a claim of medical and/or mental health records in *Koenig* 2012 because the issue was not brought forward at trial. This is demonstrably false.

First, the issue of medical and/or mental health records was briefed and argued before the Supreme Court in *Koenig* 2012 by the very experts providing declaration in this cause of action. Second it is highly unlikely that our Supreme Court would allow or sanction the release of exempt medical and/or mental health records simply because the issue was not brought forward at trial as it would violate a person's right to privacy. Third, and most importantly, review by our Courts of Appeal in all PRA actions are de novo. When as issue is reviewed de novo, the Appellate Court stands in the same position as the trial court as if no trial had previously been held. Therefore, the claim that our Supreme Court did not address the issue of whether SSOSA evaluations are medical and/or mental health records and are exempt from public disclose is patently false.

Respondents were not seeking medical treatment in applying for an SSOSA evaluation. Rather they were seeking a lighter sentence with the possibility of little or no jail time after willingly committing a heinous and most serious sex crime. All sentencing documents for those convicted of sex offenses must be maintained in the court record as well as in the

Prosecutors office as public records. These same records cannot be designated as medical and/or mental health records simply because they are also maintained by the Department of Corrections (DOC).

For these reasons Zink brings forward this appeal and respectfully requests this court to review the finding of the trial court and definitively determine the four issues address herein as they are all of paramount public importance.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Use of Pseudonym

a. The trial court erred in entering the order of October 3, 2010, sealing court records by allowing Plaintiffs to proceed in pseudonym without doing so in open court, proper application of GR 15 and proper application of the Ishikawa Factors; including input from any person attending the open hearing to voice their opinion as to whether the records should be sealed. Findings of Fact (FOF) 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 (CP 762).

2. Class Action Certification

- a. The trial court erred in entering the order certifying a class of Level I sex offenders to enjoin the requested SSOSA evaluation pursuant to RCW 42.56.540. (FOF and COL 4) (CP 774).
- b. The trial court further erred in certifying a class of Level I sex offenders under Civil Rule 23 as they do not meet the qualifications for class certification (FOF and COL 1-3 and 5-10) (CP 775-776).

c. The trial court further erred in assigning John Doe G, I and J as class representatives. Order 12 (CP 776).

3. Preliminary Injunction/Temporary Restraining Order

- a. The trial court erred in issuing a temporary injunction as well as a preliminary injunction under the general rules for injunctions found in RCW 7.40.020 and CR 65 (FOF 4) (CP 766).
- b. The trial court erred in finding the SSOSA evaluations are medical and/or mental health records; WAC 246-930-320 (FOF 5) (CP 766) and are specialize mental health treatment (FOF 11) (CP 767) because our legislature recognized that mental or behavior health treatment is appropriate for sex offenders (FOF 11 and 11(a)) (CP 767).
- c. The trial court erred in finding that the evidence provided showed that DOC did not notify individuals notified of Zinks' request (FOF 8) (CP 767).
- d. The trial court erred in finding that the unsigned declarations of unknown Plaintiffs, John Does G, I and J, were credible and compelling evidence attesting to the "potential" harm, rather than actual harm, that might result from blanket or generalized disclosure of the SSOSA evaluations (FOF 9) (CP 767).
- e. The trial court erred in determining that the declarations of those providing legal defense and after sentencing treatment to sex offenders, attesting to the harm from disclosure were credible and compelling evidence of "potential harm" as opposed to actual harm, and that injunction was appropriate under the potential harm standard rather than the actual harm standard (FOF 10) (CP 767).
- f. The trial court erred in finding that the evidence supported the sex offenders' claims that they would fact physical violence, stigmatization,

mental and emotional distress and loss of economic opportunities, harm the victims and undermine the legislature's purpose in crating the SSOSA and jeopardize the success of those who receive SSOSA's (FOF 12) (CP 768).

- g. The trial court erred in finding that a preliminary injunction against release of public records is dependent on the John Doe G, I and J risk level of reoffending (FOF6) (CP 766-767) a specific threat to Zink (FOF 7) (CP 767).
- h. The trial court erred in concluding that RCW 42.56.540 applied to this cause of action but refusing to follow the strict and more specific rules for enjoining the "public's" records under RCW 42.56.540 (COL 13-15) (CP 768).
- i. The trial court erred in concluding that Plaintiffs have a clear and equitable right to enjoin the release of the requested SSOSA evaluation as it would cause immediate and irreparable harm and would not be in the public interest since disclosure of the SSOSA evaluations or governed by RCW 71.05.445, 72.09.585 and 72.09.585 which do not permit generalized disclosure of the requested SSOSA evaluations (COL16, 16(a) and 16(b) (CP 769)
- j. The trial court erred in determining that the evidence provided supported the conclusions that Plaintiffs showed a likelihood of prevailing on their claim that generalized or blanket disclosure of Level I SSOSA evaluations would not be in the public interest, would undermine the public policy of confidentiality in mental health records, would fail to comport the balancing test established the our legislature for the disclosure of sex offender registration information, would dilute the value of the classification system and Plaintiffs would face increased risk of mental, emotional, and economic harm from homelessness and

attacks on their persons following public release of the information (COL 17-18) (CP 769-770).

- k. The trial court erred in concluding that the Plaintiffs have a clear and equitable right to have DOC recognize an exemption claimed in the statute, have a well-grounded fear of immediate invasion of their rights, injunction would be meaningless if the records were released prior to determination on the merits and would result in substantial injury (COL 19-22) (CP 770).
- The trial court erred in ordering the injunction of only the SSOSA evaluation of Level I sex offenders as well as only enjoining the records from Zink (Order) (CP 770).

4. Permanent Injunction

- a. The trial court erred in concluding RCW 71.05.445 is an "other statue" prohibiting disclosure of SSOSA evaluations (COL 12-13) (CP 781).
- b. The trial court erred in concluding RCW 70.02.250 is an "other statue" prohibiting disclosure of SSOSA evaluations (COL 14-15) (CP 781).
- c. The trial court erred in concluding that the SSSA evaluation maintained by the DOC are exempted from disclosure under the PRA (COL 16) (CP 781).
- d. The trial court erred in finding that Plaintiffs, including the members of the certified class, are all level I offenders (FOF 18), the SSOSA evaluation of Plaintiffs name and pertain to Plaintiffs (FOF 19) (CP 782).
- e. The trial court erred in finding that disclosing the SSOSA evaluations would not be in the public interest because it would harm victims, discourage sex offenders from seeking an SSOSA sentence, discourage sex offenders from being candid during evaluation, more reintegration

more difficult and disclose sensitive health care information (FOF 22) (CP 782-783).

- f. The trial court erred in finding the disclosure of SSOSA evaluations would substantially injure public safety by undermining the SSOSA system and discouraging reintegration of Level I offenders who have the lowest recidivism rates for any type of crime, including sex offenses (FOF 23) (CP 783).
- g. The trial court erred in finding the disclosure of SSOSA evaluations would substantially injure Plaintiffs by reducing their housing and employment opportunities and crating the risk that their evaluation could be accessed in a centralized location on a public web site (FOF 24) (CP 783).
- h. The trial court erred in finding the SSOSA evaluation would irreparably harm both the Plaintiffs and the Plaintiffs victims (FOF 25) (CP 783).
- The trial court erred in ordering the injunction of the SSOSA evaluation of Level I sex offenders compliant with registration requirements as of the date of the request because they are exempt from disclosure under RCW 71.05.445 and RCW 70.02.250 (Order) (CP 783).

III. ISSUES RELATED TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Use of Pseudonym

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