No. 74354-6-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JOHN DOE G, JOHN DOE I, JOHN DOE J, and JOHN DOE K, as individuals and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Respondents,

v.

#### DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Appellant,

and

DONNA ZINK,

Appellant.

**CORRECTED BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS** 

Prachi V. Dave, WSBA #50498 **ACLU OF WASHINGTON** 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 630 Seattle, WA 98164-2086 pdave@aclu-wa.org Benjamin Gould, WSBA #44093 **KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.** 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, WA 98101-3052 bgould@kellerrohrback.com E

2815 AUG -1 PH 3

STATE OF ALCOHOLOGICAL OF ALCOHOLOGICA OF ALCO

## **

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

# VI. The trial court properly allowed Plaintiffs to proceed pseudonymously.

Without sealing court filings from public access, the trial court allowed Plaintiffs to proceed in pseudonym. CP 761–62. Zink challenges this decision as an improper order to seal. Plaintiffs' response to Zink's arguments proceeds in two steps. Plaintiffs first explain why the trial court's decision does not amount to an order to seal. Plaintiffs next show

that the court's decision should be affirmed under well-established principles governing pseudonymity. 19

## A. By allowing Plaintiffs to proceed pseudonymously, the trial court was not sealing documents.

GR 15 defines what it means to seal a document. "To seal," the rule says, "means to protect from examination by the public and unauthorized court personnel." GR 15(b)(4). An order to redact "shall be treated as . . . [an] order to seal," and to redact means to protect "a portion or portions of a specified court record" from "examination by the public and unauthorized court personnel." GR 15(b)(4), (5).

Under GR 15, then, a court filing is sealed or redacted when the filing, or portions of it, are available to the court, but not available to the public. Here, though, everything available to the trial court was also available to the public.

Washington precedents on sealing also suggest that pseudonymous litigation does not amount to sealing. In adopting a presumption against sealing, for example, our Supreme Court relied on the public's "right of access to court proceedings" under the Washington Constitution. *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982). "[T]o

48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Appellate courts review for an abuse of discretion orders granting leave to proceed anonymously. *See Does I Thru XXIII v. Advanced Textile Corp.*, 214 F.3d 1058, 1069 (9th Cir. 2000).

maintain public confidence in the fairness and honesty of the judicial branch," the public has a right "to access open courts where they may freely observe the administration of civil and criminal justice." *Rufer v. Abbott Labs.*, 154 Wn.2d 530, 542, 114 P.3d 1182 (2005) (citation omitted). As the Supreme Court, quoting a trial court, has observed, the public presumptively has access to "[e]verything that passes before this Court." *Id.* 

Here, allowing Plaintiffs to proceed pseudonymously did not abridge the public's right to access anything that passed before the trial court. It did not deprive the public of any information that the trial court possessed or prevent the public from scrutinizing the trial court's decisions.

Plaintiffs' names, therefore, resemble the "information surfacing during pretrial discovery that does not otherwise come before the court." *Rufer*, 154 Wn.2d at 541. Because that information "does not become part of the court's decision making process," the public rights that apply to court filings "do[] not speak to its disclosure." *Dreiling v. Jain*, 151 Wn.2d 900, 910, 93 P.3d 861 (2004). Thus, "there is not yet a *public* right of access with respect to these materials," and only "good cause" need be shown before those materials may be restricted. *Rufer*, 154 Wn.2d at 541

(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). And here, as explained below, Plaintiffs showed good cause for pseudonymity.<sup>20</sup>

# B. The court acted within its discretion when it allowed Plaintiffs to proceed pseudonymously.

While CR 10(a)(1) provides that complaints "shall include the names of all the parties," it is silent about whether parties may use *false* names. Our Supreme Court, however, has said in passing that "a plaintiff may proceed under a pseudonym to protect a privacy interest." *N. Am.*Council on Adoptable Children v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 108

Wn.2d 433, 440, 739 P.2d 677 (1987). The federal courts, whose Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 10(a) is materially identical in relevant part to CR 10(a)(1), have come to the same conclusion. See Sealed Plaintiff v. Sealed Defendant, 537 F.3d 185, 189 (2d Cir. 2008) (citing cases); Does I thru XXIII v. Advanced Textile Corp., 214 F.3d 1058, 1068 (9th Cir. 2000) (same). These federal courts have identified many factors that may be considered when a court exercises its discretion to permit proceeding in pseudonym—cautioning always, though, that any list is "non-exhaustive"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Zink recently asked the Supreme Court to rule that the same rules governing orders to seal also governed orders allowing litigants to proceed pseudonymously. The Supreme Court did not reach this issue and declined to express an opinion on it. *Doe ex rel. Roe v. Wash. State Patrol*, No. 90413-8, 2016 WL 1458206, at \*10 & n.6 (Wash. Apr. 7, 2016).

and that courts should take into account other factors relevant to the particular case at hand. *Sealed Plaintiff*, 537 F.3d at 189–90.<sup>21</sup>

The trial court recognized that only pseudonymity could give Plaintiffs meaningful access to injunctive relief. It stated that "[f]orcing Plaintiffs to disclose their identities to bring this action would eviscerate their ability to seek relief." CP 762, ¶ 2. In so finding, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Courts agree that use of pseudonyms is appropriate when "the injury litigated against would be incurred as a result of the disclosure of the plaintiff's identity." *See M.M. v. Zavaras*, 139 F.3d 798, 803 (10th Cir. 1998) (citation omitted). Here, as the trial court noted, the very harm that Plaintiffs sought to prevent in bringing this action would have been realized if the trial court had forced Plaintiffs to publicly disclose their identities. *See Doe v. Harris*, 640 F.3d 972, 973 n.1 (9th Cir. 2011) (allowing Plaintiff "to continue to proceed under a pseudonym because drawing public attention to his status as a sex offender is precisely the consequence he seeks to avoid by bringing this suit"); *Roe v. Ingraham*, 364 F. Supp. 536, 541 & n.7 (S.D.N.Y. 1973) (permitting plaintiffs to proceed in pseudonym in challenging the constitutionality of a statute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Because no appellate case law in Washington speaks to when and how parties may proceed in pseudonym, Plaintiffs rely here on persuasive federal authorities.

requiring disclosure of their identities as individuals prescribed narcotic drugs). It would also have undermined the PRA itself, which permits challenges to the release of records by individuals named in the records.

See RCW 42.56.540. Indeed, forcing Plaintiffs to disclose their identities to access the only relief available—court protection of exempt records—would have raised serious due process concerns. *Cf. Bodie v. Connecticut*, 401 U.S. 371, 376–77 (1971) (recognizing a due process right of access to the courts when judicial review is necessary to resolve a dispute).

The trial court determined that disclosing Plaintiffs' identities would cause them permanent harm and that the Plaintiffs faced "a significant risk of physical, mental, economic, and emotional harm if their identities are disclosed." CP 762, ¶ 3. This determination was correct.

Like the trial court here, other courts have allowed anonymity for plaintiffs "when identification creates a risk of retaliatory physical or mental harm" and "when anonymity is necessary to preserve privacy in a matter of sensitive and highly personal nature." *Does I Thru XXIII*, 214 F.3d at 1068 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Courts have permitted the use of pseudonym by individuals who receive mental health treatment when the case would necessarily reveal their illness or treatment. *See, e,g., Doe v. Colautti*, 592 F.2d 704, 705 (3d Cir. 1979) (pseudonym used by plaintiff challenging state benefits for hospitalization

in private mental institutions); *Doe v. Hartford Life & Accident Ins. Co.*, 237 F.R.D. 545, 549–50 (D.N.J. 2006) (collecting and discussing cases). Additionally, courts have allowed parties to proceed in pseudonym "when nondisclosure of the party's identity is necessary to protect a person from harassment, injury, ridicule or personal embarrassment." *Does I Thru XXIII*, 214 F.3d at 1067–68 (citation, alteration, and internal quotation marks omitted).

Those factors are present here. Plaintiffs and experts familiar with the treatment of sexual offenders attested that, if Plaintiffs were publicly identified as registered sex offenders, they would face physical and verbal abuse, harassment, economic loss, and psychological harm. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 378–79, 404, 411, 416, 429, 434. Experts in the treatment of sexual offenders also attested that broad-based dissemination of mental health treatment records will undermine the efficacy of the treatment process. *See* CP 411–12, 416. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by agreeing with this testimony.

The trial court also recognized that the public has a reduced interest in the Plaintiffs' names. And, in finding that the public's interest in these proceedings would not be meaningfully compromised, the trial court determined that "[t]he names of individual Plaintiffs have little bearing on the public's interest in the dispute or its resolution." CP 762, ¶

4. In so reasoning, the trial court did not abuse its discretion: "[W]here a lawsuit is brought solely against the government and seeks to raise an abstract question of law that affects many similarly situated individuals, the identities of the particular parties bringing the suit may be largely irrelevant to the public concern with the nature of the process." See Doe v. Del Rio, 241 F.R.D. 154, 158 (S.D.N.Y. 2006). The primary questions in this case are legal questions of statutory interpretation that affect hundreds, if not thousands, of people that are similarly situated to the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs represent a certified class of those people. Under these circumstances, the precise names of the named Plaintiffs have little bearing on the public's interest in this case.

The trial court also did not abuse its discretion when it found that DOC and Zink would not be prejudiced by allowing Plaintiffs to proceed in pseudonym. CP 762, ¶ 5. Neither DOC nor Zink challenged the Plaintiffs' credibility, for example. Nor does Zink challenge Plaintiffs' membership in the certified class. *See* Zink Br. 30.

Next, the trial court was within its discretion to find that Plaintiffs' privacy interests in proceeding pseudonymously outweighed the public's interest in their identity. CP 762, ¶ 6. The public's access to the case was not limited apart from being unable to determine the identities of Plaintiffs. And, as noted above, the Plaintiffs' identities are largely

irrelevant. *See supra* pp. 53–54. Thus, the public's minimal interest in learning Plaintiffs' names is outweighed by Plaintiffs' interest in meaningful access to judicial review and in avoiding harm to themselves and their loved ones.

Finally, the trial court found that there was "no reasonably viable alternatives to redress" the concerns that Plaintiffs sought to address by proceeding in pseudonym. CP 762, ¶ 7. The trial court's finding on this point was not an abuse of discretion, particularly since Zink has suggested no alternative that could protect Plaintiffs' interests.

### VII. The trial court acted well within its discretion by certifying a class.

The trial court certified a Plaintiff class defined as all level I sex offenders "who are either compliant with the conditions of registration or have been relieved of the duty to register, and who underwent an evaluation to determine if they were eligible for a [SSOSA] after January 1, 1990." CP 773. Zink challenges this class certification. She does not argue that the trial court misapplied CR 23. Rather, she argues that the PRA forecloses class actions altogether. According to Zink, each "person who is named in the record or to whom the record specifically pertains," RCW 42.56.540, must be joined as a party. This argument should be

rejected. It conflicts with the civil rules and binding precedent interpreting those rules, and it also misunderstands the nature of class actions.

Because Zink does not deny that CR 23 itself allows class certification in this case, the trial court's certification decision should be affirmed. After all, "[c]lass certification is governed by CR 23." *Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 278, 267 P.3d 998 (2011). And civil rules like CR 23 "govern all civil proceedings" except when they are "inconsistent with rules or statutes applicable to special proceedings." CR 81(a). The PRA, however, is not one of those "statutes applicable to special proceedings." As the Supreme Court has held, the PRA does "not create a special proceeding subject to special rules," so "the normal civil rules are appropriate for prosecuting a PRA claim." *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cty. v. Cty. of Spokane*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 716, 261 P.3d 119 (2011). Hence, CR 23 controls here, and under it certification was appropriate.

More fundamentally, Zink's argument misunderstands the representative nature of class actions. In a class action, representative plaintiffs stand in for all the other members of the class. Those members are then treated as parties to the litigation. *See Califano v. Yamasaki*, 442 U.S. 682, 700–01 (1979) (class actions are "an exception to the usual rule that litigation is conducted by and on behalf of the individual named

parties only," and holding that a class action could be maintained even under a statute that referred merely to an "individual"). That is why a class-action judgment binds all unexcluded members of the class. CR 23(c)(3). And that is why moving for class-action certification on appeal "amounts, in effect, to a request for a substitution of parties." *DeFunis v. Odegaard*, 84 Wn.2d 617, 623, 529 P.2d 438 (1974).

The representative nature of class actions also means that even a statute phrased in individual terms will allow for a class action. So, for example, even though the Consumer Protection Act authorizes money damages and injunctive relief only to those who "bring a civil action," RCW 19.86.090, the Court of Appeals has held that this provision applies not only to the named plaintiffs, but "to the represented class members" too. *Smith v. Behr Process Corp.*, 113 Wn. App. 306, 346, 54 P.3d 665 (2002). Even though those class members did not bring the action at first, they are deemed to be present as parties through the class-action mechanism.

For the same reason, the PRA does not forbid class actions.

Through CR 23, class representatives stand in for all other class members 
"named in [a] record or to whom [a] record specifically pertains." RCW 
42.56.540. If the class representatives' "motion and affidavit[s]" supply 
proof that records name or specifically pertain to both the class

representatives and the other members of the class, *id.*, then a classwide injunction under RCW 42.56.540 is perfectly acceptable. Because Plaintiffs supplied precisely that proof here, the trial court's class certification and classwide injunction was proper.

# VIII. Because Zink's challenge to the preliminary injunction is now moot, this Court need not address it.

Zink challenges the trial court's preliminary injunction, arguing that the court used the wrong legal standard. The trial court, she maintains, erroneously applied the general legal standard that governs preliminary injunctions, <sup>22</sup> rather than the special rules that govern injunctions under the PRA. Zink Br. 4. Zink's challenge to the preliminary injunction is moot, however—and, in any event, this appeal does not present the legal question that Zink wants this Court to decide.

When the trial court entered a permanent injunction, it applied the standard articulated in RCW 42.56.540, the provision that Zink believes governs *all* injunctions under the PRA. *See* CP 781–83, ¶¶ 17, 22, 23, 24, 25. Entry of that permanent injunction thus rendered moot "[t]he propriety of the temporary order[]." *Ferry Cty. Title & Escrow Co. v. Fogle's Garage, Inc.*, 4 Wn. App. 874, 881, 484 P.2d 458 (1971); *see also, e.g.*, 43A C.J.S. *Injunctions* § 14 (noting that a grant of a preliminary injunction

58

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See, e.g., Kucera v. Dep't of Transp., 140 Wn.2d 200, 209, 995 P.2d 63 (2000).

generally becomes moot after the trial court enters a permanent injunction). Zink notes that the Court of Appeals, in other cases, have determined that "once the permanent injunction is issued, . . . the [propriety of a] preliminary injunction is moot." Zink Br. 6. She fails to explain why the Court should not reach the same conclusion here.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The trial court's summary judgment, permanent injunction, class certification, and order allowing Plaintiffs to proceed in pseudonym should all be affirmed.